Amended Constitution

Adopted on the 22nd day of November 2013

1 Name

1.1 The name of the Society is 'The Adjudication Society'. It's address for the time being shall be C/O Fenwick Elliott, Aldwych House, 71-90 Aldwych, London, WC2 4BN or such other address that from time to time may be determined by the Executive Committee.

2. Interpretation of Terms

- 2.1 The "Society" shall the mean the "Adjudication Society". The Society will be not for profit and will operate as a virtual society through its web site and using electronic communications wherever possible.
- 2.2 The "Executive Committee" shall mean the Executive Committee of the Society as provided for under Clause 9 herein.
- 2.3 "Member" or "Members" shall mean the member or members provided for under Clause 6 herein.

3. Administration

3.1 Subject to the matters set out below the Society and its property shall be administered and managed in accordance with this constitution by the members of the Executive Committee.

4. Objects

4.1 The Society's objects are to promote for the public and the individual member benefit, education, training, study and research (and publication of the useful results of such research) in the field of adjudication practice and procedure and related subjects worldwide.

5. Powers

- 5.1 In furtherance of the objects but not otherwise the Executive Committee may exercise the following powers:
- 5.1.1 to raise funds and to invite and receive contributions provided that in raising funds the Executive Committee shall not undertake any substantial permanent trading activities and shall conform to any relevant requirements of the law;
- 5.1.2 to buy, take on lease or exchange any property necessary for the achievement of the objects and to maintain and equip it for use;

- 5.1.3 subject to any consent required by law to sell, lease or dispose of all or any part of the property of the Society;
- 5.1.4 subject to any consents required by law to borrow money and to charge all or any part of the property of the Society with repayment of the money so borrowed;
- 5.1.5 to employ such staff (who shall not be members of the Executive Committee) as are necessary for the proper pursuit of the objects and to make all reasonable and necessary provision for the payment of pensions and superannuation for staff and their dependants;
- 5.1.6 to co-operate with other related voluntary bodies, professional institutions, societies and statutory authorities operating in furtherance of the objects of the Society and to exchange information and advice with them;
- 5.1.7 to establish or support any charitable trusts, associations or institutions formed for all or any of the objects;
- 5.1.8 to appoint and constitute such advisory or sub committees as the Executive Committee may think fit, subject to Clause 12.7 herein;
- 5.1.9 to do all such other lawful things as are necessary for the achievement of the objects.
- 5.1.10 to promote, support, organise or participate in conferences, seminars, exhibitions, scholarships, courses, lectures and similar projects;
- 5.1.11 to instigate research, studies and working parties, obtaining information on all aspects of adjudication practice and procedure (including case law) and publishing the useful results thereof;
- 5.1.12 to publish or communicate by any desirable and effective means information relating to adjudication practice or procedure and all matters relating thereto;
- 5.1.13 to establish relationships, association and liaison with other persons and other bodies (including professional and trade associations) worldwide with similar or related objects and exchange information and studies and results concerning all matters related thereto;
- 5.1.14 to facilitate the giving of advice, assistance and representation to members or other persons;
- 5.1.15 to employ agents or servants (not being members of the Executive Committee) as may be necessary to further the objects of the Society;
- 5.1.16 to collect entrance fees, subscriptions, donations and grants;
- 5.1.17 to establish branches of the Society in such centres and on such terms as the Executive Committee may determine.

6. Membership

- 6.1 Membership of the Society shall be open to any person over the age of 18 years interested in furthering the objects and who has paid the annual subscription laid down from time to time by the Executive Committee.
- 6.2 Every Member shall have one vote.
- 6.3 The Executive Committee may by unanimous vote and for good reason terminate the membership of any individual: Provided that the individual concerned shall have the right to be heard by the Executive Committee, accompanied by a friend, before a final decision is made.

7. Subscriptions

- 7.1 The entrance fees and annual subscriptions for each Member shall be such sums as shall from time to time be recommended by the Executive Committee and approved by the Society in a General Meeting. Entrance fees and subscriptions are payable to the Adjudication Society.
- 7.2 Subject as herein provided entrance fees shall fall due immediately upon election. Subscriptions shall fall due on 1st January in each year and such subscriptions shall be for the ensuing calendar year.
- 7.3 Any Member who attains membership in any year shall become liable to pay the entrance fee and his first annual subscription forthwith upon notification of election as a Member.
- 7.4 If a Member shall be elected on or after the 1st October in any year that Member's subscription shall also cover the next following year.
- 7.5 Any Member who does not pay his entrance fee and/or subscription within three calendar months after the same shall fall due, shall be required by the Society, acting through the Secretary to pay the same, and if that Member fails to pay for 28 days thereafter, such membership shall terminate forthwith provided that such termination shall not disqualify the Member from making application for re-admission as a member on such terms as the Executive Committee may decide.
- 7.6 Any Member wishing to resign membership shall give written notice to the Secretary on or before 30th November in any year; otherwise he or she shall be liable to pay his subscription in respect of the next current year.

8. Honorary Officers

8.1 At the Annual General Meeting of the Society the Members shall elect the Honorary Officers from amongst the fully paid up members of the Society for such posts as are not already filled in accordance with clause 9.2, such officers being a Chairman, a Senior Vice-Chairman, a Junior Vice Chairman, a Secretary, a Treasurer, a Regional Liaison Officer and a Conference Organiser who shall hold office from the conclusion of the AGM.

- 8.2
- 8.2.1 Nominations for the election of Executive Committee shall be sent to the Secretary or such other person or persons as the Executive Committee may nominate in accordance with a timetable approved by the Executive Committee and may be accompanied by an Election Statement by the nominated person of no more than 100 words in a form stipulated by the Secretary. Election Statements will not be published unless sent with the Nomination and in the form stipulated. The nomination shall be of a fully paid up Member of the Society signed, in electronic writing, by the Member being nominated who shall be supported by two fully paid up Members of the Society (one acting as proposer and the other as seconder) who shall signify their support in electronic writing.
- 8.2.2 Nominations for the Honorary Officers shall be sent to the Secretary or such other person or persons as the Executive Committee may nominate in accordance with a timetable approved by the Executive Committee and may be accompanied by an Election Statement by the nominated person of no more than 100 words in a form stipulated by the Secretary. Election Statements will not be published unless sent with the Nomination and in the form stipulated. The nomination shall be of a fully paid up Member of the Society signed, in electronic writing, by the Member being nominated who shall be supported by two fully paid up Members of the Society (one acting as proposer and the other as seconder) who shall signify their support in electronic writing.
- 8.2.3 Nominations for the Honorary Officers must be received by the Secretary or such person or persons nominated by the Executive Committee at least 112 days before the AGM.
- 8.2.4 Nominations for the Executive Committee (other than the Honorary Officers) must be received by the Secretary or such person or persons nominated by the Executive Committee not later than 42 days before the AGM.
- 8.2.5 Nominations and Election Statements will be posted on the website together with details of the ballot arrangements (which may include but not be limited to voting by electronic means), approved by the Executive Committee, 14 days after the last day for their receipt by the Secretary or such person or persons nominated by the Executive Committee. The ballot will close 21 days later.
- 8.2.6 The result of the election for the Honorary Officers will be announced on the website not less than 60 days before the AGM and those nominees failing to be elected as Honorary Officers will automatically be put forward for election as members of the Executive Committee. The result of the ballot for the Honorary Officers will be posted on the website within 7 days of the close of the Ballot for the Honorary Officers. The result of the Ballot for the other members of the Executive Committee will be announced at the AGM. Any uncontested nominations for the post of an Honorary Officer or a member of the Executive Committee shall be subject to ratification by the Members at the AGM.

- 8.3 The Executive Committee may appoint a person (who need not be a Member of the Society) as Honorary President to serve for such period(s), usually three (3) years, as may be decided by the Executive Committee. The Honorary President shall not be a member of the Executive Committee.
- 8.4 The Treasurer shall not, unless for exceptional circumstances, hold office for a continuous period exceeding four years. Where a new treasurer is appointed, the outgoing treasurer shall continue to function in that capacity, for a hand over period not exceeding four months to allow for change of mandates and banking details.

9. Executive Committee

- 9.1 The Executive Committee shall consist of not less than 11 members nor more than 19 members being:
- 9.1.1 the honorary officers, seven (7) in number specified in the preceding clause;
- 9.1.2 not less than 4 and not more than 8 Ordinary members.
- 9.1.3 the Executive Committee may in addition appoint not more than 4 co-opted members. Each appointment of a co-opted member shall be made at a special meeting of the Executive Committee called under clause 12 and shall take effect from the end of that meeting unless the appointment is to fill a place which has not then been vacated in which case the appointment shall run from the date when the post becomes vacant. The total number of co-opted members shall not exceed one third the total members (including the co-opted members) on the Executive Committee.
- 9.2 All the members of the Executive Committee shall retire from office together at the end of the annual general meeting next after the date on which they came into office but they may be re-elected or re-appointed. The Honorary Officers may elect to serve for a second year before retiring in accordance with this Clause, such election must be made and notified to the Secretary at least 150 days before that annual general meeting.
- 9.3 Subject to Clause 12.3 herein, the proceedings of the Executive Committee shall not be invalidated by any vacancy among their number or by any failure to appoint or any defect in the appointment or qualification of a member.
- 9.4 Nobody shall be appointed as a member of the Executive Committee who is aged under 18 or who would if appointed be disqualified under the provisions of Clause 10.
- 9.5 No person shall be entitled to act as a member of the Executive Committee whether on a first or on any subsequent entry into office until after signing in the minute book of the Executive Committee a declaration of acceptance and of willingness to act in the trusts of the Society.
- 9.6 Where the Executive Committee is of the opinion that any of its functions, duties and/or responsibilities could be carried out by delegating to any member or to the regions, the Executive Committee may delegate specified functions, duties and/or responsibilities for a pre-determined time provided always that nothing in this Clause shall be taken to permit the delegation of all the functions, duties and/or responsibilities of the Executive Committee.

10. Determination of Membership of Executive Committee

- 10.1 A member of the Executive Committee shall cease to hold office or be a member of the Executive Committee if he or she:
- 10.1.1 is disqualified from acting as a member of the Executive Committee on the following grounds:-
- a) he or she has been convicted of any offence involving dishonesty or deception;
- (b) he or she has been adjudged bankrupt or sequestration of his or her estate has been awarded and (in either case) he or she has not been discharged;
- (c) he or she has made a composition or arrangement with, or granted a trust deed for, his or her creditors and has not been discharged in respect of it;
- (d) he or she is subject to a disqualification order under the [1986 c. 46.] Company Directors Disqualification Act 1986 or to an order made under section 429(2)(b) of the [1986 c. 45.] Insolvency Act 1986 (failure to pay under county court administration order).
- 10.1.2 becomes incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his or her own affairs;
- 10.1.3 fails to attend without the permission of the Executive Committee from all their meetings held within a period of six months and the Executive Committee resolve that his or her office or membership of the Executive Committee be vacated;
- 10.1.4 has been expelled from the Society by the Executive Committee pursuant to Clause 23.1; or
- 10.1.5 notifies to the Executive Committee a wish to resign (but only if at least three members of the Executive Committee will remain in office when the notice of resignation is to take effect).

11 Executive Committee Members not to be personally interested

- 11.1 Subject to the provisions of sub-clause (2) of this clause no member of the Executive Committee shall acquire any interest in property belonging to the Society (otherwise than as a trustee for the Society) or receive remuneration or be interested (otherwise than as a member of the Executive Committee) in any contract entered into by Executive Committee.
- 11.2 Any member of the Executive Committee for the time being who is a solicitor, accountant or other person engaged in a profession may charge and be paid all the usual professional charges for business done by him or her or his or her firm when instructed in writing by the other members of the Executive Committee to act in a professional capacity on behalf of the Society: Provided that at no time shall a majority of the members of the Executive Committee benefit under this provision and that a member of the Executive Committee shall withdraw from any meeting at which his or her own instruction or remuneration, or that of his or her firm, is under discussion.

12. Meetings and proceedings of the Executive Committee

12.1 The Executive Committee shall hold at least two ordinary meetings each year. A special meeting may be called at any time by the Chairman or by any two members of the Executive Committee upon not less than 14 days' notice being given to the other members of the Executive Committee of the matters to be discussed but if the matters include an appointment of a co-opted member then not less than 21 days' notice must be given.

A meeting may conducted on the basis of physical presence of the Executive Committee or through telecommunications, video link or other electronic means or any combination of the same or purely by email consultation which will have a commencement and a close date.

The notice of any meeting shall specify the mode of conduct of the meeting.

- 12.2 The Chairman shall act as chairman at meetings of the Executive Committee. If the Chairman is absent from any meeting the Senior Vice-Chairman shall act as chairman. If both the Chairman and the Senior Vice-Chairman are absent from any meeting, the Junior Vice-Chairman shall act as Chairman. If all of the Chairman and the Vice-Chairmen are absent from any meeting, the members of the Executive Committee present shall choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting before any other business is transacted.
- 12.3 There shall be a quorum when at least one third of the number of members of the Executive Committee for the time being or three members of the Executive Committee, whichever is the greater, are present physically or electronically at a meeting.
- 12.4 Every matter shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members of the Executive Committee present and voting on the question but in the case of equality of votes the chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
- 12.5 The Executive Committee shall keep minutes, in books kept for the purpose, of the proceedings at meetings of the Executive Committee and any subcommittee.
- 12.6 The Executive Committee may from time to time make and alter rules for the conduct of their business, the summoning, means of attendance and conduct of their meetings and the custody of documents. No rule may be made which is inconsistent with this constitution.
- 12.7 The Executive Committee may appoint one or more sub-committees consisting of three or more members of the Executive Committee for the purpose of making any investigation, inquiry or supervising or performing any function or duty which in the opinion of the Executive Committee would be more conveniently undertaken or carried out by a sub-committee: provided that all acts and proceedings of any such sub-committees shall be fully and promptly reported in writing to the Executive Committee.
- 12.8 The Executive Committee shall receive traveling expenses when attending Committee meetings in person, where the members attending cannot combine such meetings with their normal business activities. Further no member shall claim any level of expense above the minimum decided by the Executive Committee without prior approval of the Chairman, Treasurer and one other member of the Executive Committee. Such approval not to be unreasonably refused.

13. Receipts and expenditure

13.1 The funds of the Society, including all donations contributions and bequests, shall be paid into an account operated by the Executive Committee in the name of the Society at such bank as the Executive Committee shall from time to time decide. All cheques drawn on the account must be signed by at least two members of the Executive Committee, one such member being the Honorary Treasurer or a deputy Honorary Treasurer. The Executive Committee shall have power to appoint a deputy Honorary Treasurer during any extended absence of the Honorary Treasurer.

13.2 The funds belonging to the Society shall be applied only in furthering the objects.

14. Property

- 14.1 Subject to the provisions of sub-clause (2) of this clause, the Executive Committee shall cause the title to:
- 14.1.1 all land held by or in trust for the Society; and
- 14.1.2 all investments held by or on behalf of the Society;

to be vested either in a corporation entitled to act as custodian trustee or in not less than three individuals appointed by them as holding trustees. Holding trustees may be removed by the Executive Committee at their pleasure and shall act in accordance with the lawful directions of the Executive Committee. Provided they act only in accordance with the lawful directions of the Executive Committee, the holding trustees shall not be liable for the acts and defaults of its members.

14.2 If a corporation entitled to act as custodian trustee has not been appointed to hold the property of the Society, the Executive Committee may permit any investments held by or in trust for the Society to be held in the name of a clearing bank, trust corporation or any stock-broking company which is a member of the International Stock Exchange (or any subsidiary of any such stock-broking company) as nominee for the Executive Committee, and may pay such a nominee reasonable and proper remuneration for acting as such.

15 Accounts

- 15.1 The Executive Committee shall be responsible for:
- 15.1.1 the keeping of accounting records for the Society;
- 15.1.2 the preparation of annual statements of account for the Society; and
- 15.1.3 the auditing or independent examination of the statements of account of the Society.
- 16. Not Used
- 17. Not Used

18. Annual General Meeting

- 18.1 There shall be an annual general meeting of the Society which shall be held in the month of November in each year or as soon as practicable thereafter.
- 18.2 Every annual general meeting shall be called by the Executive Committee. The Secretary shall give at least 21 days' notice (which may be given electronically) of the annual general meeting to all the Members of the Society. All the Members of the Society shall be entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.
- 18.3 The Executive Committee shall present to each annual general meeting a report and accounts of the Society for the preceding year.

19. Special General Meetings

19.1 The Executive Committee may call a special general meeting of the Society at any time. If at least ten Members request such a meeting in writing or by electronic means stating the business to be considered the Secretary shall call such a meeting. At least 21 days' notice must be given. The notice must state the business to be discussed.

20. Procedure at General Meetings

- 20.1 The Secretary or other person specially appointed by the Executive Committee shall keep a full record of proceedings at every general meeting of the Society.
- 20.2 There shall be a quorum when at least one tenth of the number of Members of the Society for the time being or 50 Members of the Society, whichever is the less, are present at any general meeting.
- 20.3 Facilities shall be provided to enable those Members not able to attend an AGM or any Special General Meeting to vote by proxy and/or electronically.

21. Notices

21.1 Any notice required to be served on any Member of the Society shall be in writing and shall be served by the Secretary or the Executive Committee on any Member either personally, by e mail, by fax or by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to such Member at his or her last known address. Any notice required to be served by any Member of the Society shall be in writing and shall be served on the Secretary by such Member either personally, by e mail, by fax or by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter addressed to the Secretary at his or her last known address. Any letter sent by e-mail or fax shall be deemed to have been received on the day that it was sent and any letter sent by post shall be deemed to have been received within 10 days of posting. No Member shall have his or her membership terminated unless a letter has been sent to the Member calling for arrears of payments or giving notification of the reason for such termination or expulsion.

22. Retired Members

22.1 The Executive Committee may, at the request of any Member wishing to retire from the Society, resolve that such Member shall cease to be a Member and shall become instead a retired Member. Such retired Member shall after the ensuing 1stst January pay an annual subscription to be determined from time to time by the Executive Committee. Retired Members shall be entitled to attend, but not to vote at any general meeting of the Society and shall not be reckoned in counting a quorum, nor be included in the number of Members entitled to requisition an Extraordinary General Meeting. A retired Member shall not be eligible to serve as a member of the Executive Committee. Save as aforesaid, a retired Member shall be deemed a Member of the Society. For the avoidance of doubt, the Executive Committee is unlikely to pass the necessary resolution unless it is evident that the Member has retired from remunerative employment.

23. Expulsion or Suspension of Members

23.1 Any Member being charged with or suspected of conduct such as in the opinion of the Executive Committee renders it desirable that an enquiry be held shall be invited to attend a meeting or a virtual meeting of the Executive Committee, and the Executive Committee shall then enquire into the nature of the allegations made against the Member. If after enquiry, the Executive Committee finds that the allegations are established either in whole or in part against him or her, he or she may be cautioned or suspended, or required to resign his or her membership, or may be expelled from the Society; and the decision of the Executive Committee may be published by the Executive Committee in such manner as it thinks fit.

23.2 No Member shall be suspended, required to resign or expelled except by a resolution supported by at least three-quarters of the members of the Executive Committee. No action or other proceedings shall lie against the members of the Executive Committee or any of them in respect of any of the matters dealt with under this Rule and no Member against whom the Executive Committee has decided upon a suspension, requirement to resign or expulsion shall have any claim in respect of his or her subscription or otherwise howsoever.

24. Regions

24.1 The Society shall operate in branches within regions, such regions (whether inside or outside the United Kingdom) being approved by the Executive Committee as it deems fit. The Executive Committee may from time to time prescribe the area to be comprised in each of the regions.

24.2 The Executive Committee shall, pursuant to Clause 5.1.17 herein, have the power to authorise the establishment of and to appoint regional committees (Regional Committees). Members of Regional Committees shall be members of the Society and shall be responsible, inter alia, for promoting the objects of the Society and for generally managing the activities of the Society within the region.

24.3 The assets of any branch in the regions and any monies held in any bank account maintained by a branch shall be and shall remain under the beneficial ownership of the Society. Every branch shall account to the Executive Committee for such assets and monies in such manner and at such times as the Executive Committee shall direct. Every branch and the elected members and officers thereof shall act as fiduciaries to the Society for such monies.

25. Alterations to the Constitution

- 25.1 Subject to the following provisions of this clause the Constitution may be altered by a resolution passed by not less than two thirds of the Members present and voting at a general meeting. The notice of the general meeting must include notice of the resolution, setting out the terms of the alteration proposed.
- 25.2 No amendment may be made which would have the effect of making the Society cease to be a society at law.

26. Dissolution

26.1 If the Executive Committee decides that it is necessary or advisable to dissolve the Society it shall call a meeting of all Members of the Society, of which not less than 21 days' notice (stating the terms of the resolution to be proposed) shall be given. If the proposal is confirmed by a two-thirds majority of those present and voting the Executive Committee shall have power to realise any assets held by or on behalf of the Society. Any assets remaining after the satisfaction of any proper debts and liabilities shall be given or transferred to such other charitable institution or institutions having objects similar to the object of the Society as the Members of the Society may determine or failing that shall be applied for some other charitable purpose. A copy of the statement of accounts, or account and statement for the final accounting period of the Society must be sent to the Members.

27. Adoption of First Constitution

This constitution was adopted in November 2003, amended at the Annual General Meeting of the Society on the 16th November 2006 and ratified and further amended at the Annual General Meeting of the Society on 15th November 2007. The Constitution was again amended at the Annual General Meeting of the Society on 11th November 2010 and subsequently amended at the Annual General Meeting on 22nd November 2013.